2004

Gerald Vaughn v. Darin Anderson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT

Plaintiff/Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on July 29, 2004. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to § 78-2-2(3)(j) and 4, Utah Code.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Did the trial court misinterpret U.C.A. § 31A-22-309(1)(a) to require that the jury be prohibited from awarding damages to plaintiff until it first made a special finding that plaintiff's automobile-accident-related medical expenses exceeded \$3,000, when the no-fault statutory scheme does not create a burden of proof at trial, but instead requires that any dispute over the amount of a plaintiff's medical bills be raised by the defendant and resolved before a plaintiff is allowed to maintain a cause of action for general damages at trial?

The court of appeals reviews a trial court's interpretation of a statute on a correctness standard, granting no deference to the trial court: "The interpretation of a statute . . . presents a question of law, which this court reviews for correctness." *Parks v. Utah Transit Auth.*, 2002 UT 55, ¶ 4, 53 P.3d 473. Also, where, as here, a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or new trial is based on the interpretation of law, an appellate court reviews the trial court's ruling for correctness. *Horrell v. Utah Farm Bur. Ins. Co.*, 909 P.2d 1279, 1280 (Ct. App. 1996). The issue was preserved in the trial court as evidenced in R. 268 (2:6-7, 6:6-7), R. 214-15.

APPLICABLE STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The following State of Utah statutory provisions are relevant to the disposition of this appeal:

31A-22-309. Limitations, exclusions, and conditions to personal injury protection.

(1) (a) A person who has or is required to have direct benefit coverage under a policy which includes personal injury protection may not maintain a cause of action for general damages arising out of personal injuries alleged to have been caused by an automobile accident, except where the person has sustained one or more of the following:

- (i) death;
- (ii) dismemberment;
- (iii) permanent disability or permanent impairment based upon objective findings;
- (iv) permanent disfigurement; or
- (v) medical expenses to a person in excess of \$3,000.

31A-22-307. Personal injury protection coverages and benefits.

(1) Personal injury protection coverages and benefits include:

(a) the reasonable value of all expenses for necessary medical, surgical, X-ray, dental, rehabilitation, including prosthetic devices, ambulance, hospital, and nursing services, not to exceed the total minimum required coverage of \$3,000 per person;

...

(e) (i) In disputed cases, a court on its own motion or on the motion of either party may designate an impartial medical panel of not more than three licensed physicians to examine the claimant and testify on the issue of the reasonable value of the claimant's medical services or expenses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff was injured from a rear-end automobile collision and brought suit to recover his damages. The case was tried to a jury on February 4, 5, and 6, 2004. At the close of defendant's evidence, plaintiff moved for directed verdict, asserting that the only

valid issue for the jury was the amount of damages to award plaintiff. The court denied plaintiff's motion. At the close of trial on February 6, 2004, the court submitted a special verdict form to the jury which, contrary to the court's order of February 2, 2004, asked the jury to determine, by a preponderance of the evidence, whether plaintiff had incurred accident-related medical bills in excess of \$3,000 and, if not, prohibited the jury from awarding any damages to plaintiff.

The jury found that defendant's negligence had caused injury to plaintiff, but found that plaintiff's medical bills did not exceed \$3000 and, following the court's direction, awarded no damages to plaintiff. The court then entered judgment for defendant.

On March 12, 2004, plaintiff moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or in the alternative, a new trial on damages, arguing that it was legal error to submit a threshold question to the jury. The court denied plaintiff's motion and plaintiff filed a Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Plaintiff was injured on September 25, 1997, when the vehicle he was driving was rear-ended by a vehicle driven by defendant. R. 1, 6.

2. Prior to filing suit, State Farm Insurance Company, which was plaintiff's no-fault insurer as well as defendant's liability insurer, evaluated and paid over \$3,500 in medical bills as related to the collision. R. 214, 226-229.

3. At no time before the start of trial did defendant move to contest the amount of plaintiff's medical bills or to dispute that plaintiff had satisfied the requirements of U.C.A. § 31A-22-309(1)(a) to maintain a claim for general damages.

4. On February 2, 2004, the court entered "Order on Defendant's Liability," ordering as follows:

The court shall enter a finding and the jury shall be instructed that Defendant was negligent and that Defendant's negligence proximately caused the collision.

The issues presented to the jury for decision will be limited to proximate causation of Plaintiff's injuries and to the amount of Plaintiff's damages.

R. 83-84.

5. The case was tried to a jury on February 4, 5, and 6. R. 162-166.

6. On the first day of trial, the court indicated that despite defendant's failure to contest plaintiff's medical bills before trial, it would allow defendant to assert that plaintiff had not met a \$3,000 medical expense threshold, and also that it would instruct the jury that it could not award damages to plaintiff unless it first determined by a preponderance of evidence that plaintiff had incurred more than \$3,000 in medical expenses from the accident. R. 214.

7. The court instructed plaintiff that he would not be allowed to introduce evidence at trial that defendant's own liability carrier, State Farm Insurance Company, had paid over \$3,500 in plaintiff's medical bills from the accident, nor would plaintiff be allowed

to demonstrate to the jury that State Farm had performed an evaluation wherein it approved certain of plaintiff's medical bills as related to the accident and denied payment for other bills as not related to the accident. R. 214-215. The court stated the probative value of such evidence was outweighed by unfair prejudice to defendant. R. 215.

8. During trial, defendant targeted certain of plaintiff's medical bills and adduced evidence through his experts that, in their opinion, certain treatments and billing amounts were not related to the automobile collision, and that plaintiff's accident-related medical bills did not exceed \$3,000. R. 215.

9. Plaintiff adduced evidence at trial that his accident-related medical bills did exceed \$3,000; however, the court would not allow plaintiff to adduce evidence that defendant's liability carrier had acknowledged that plaintiff had incurred accident-related medical bills in excess of \$3,000. R. 213, 224.

10. At the close of defendant's evidence at trial, plaintiff moved for directed verdict, asserting that the only valid issue for the jury was the amount of damages awardable to plaintiff. R. 215.

11. The court denied plaintiff's motion for directed verdict and submitted to the jury the issues of (1) causation, (2) whether plaintiff had incurred \$3,000 in accident-related medical bills, and, if so, (3) the amount of plaintiff's damages. R. 215, 167-169.

12. The jury found that defendant's negligence had caused injury to plaintiff, but did not find from a preponderance of the evidence, that plaintiff's related medical expenses exceeded \$3,000. R. 167-168.

13. Based on the jury's finding of less than \$3,000 in accident-related medical bills, the jury was instructed to make no further findings and to award nothing to plaintiff. R. 168-169.

14. The court entered judgment on behalf of defendant finding that defendant's negligence had caused injury to plaintiff, but that plaintiff was entitled to no damages because he had not incurred more than \$3,000 in accident-related medical expenses. R. 201-203.

15. Subsequent to trial, plaintiff moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or alternatively, a new trial on damages, asserting, *inter alia*, it was legal error to make plaintiff prove and to require the jury to find by a preponderance of the evidence that plaintiff had incurred in excess of \$3,000 in accident-related medical expenses, before the jury would be allowed to award damages. R. 210-211.

16. The court denied plaintiff's motion. R. 254-255.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I.

The trial court incorrectly interpreted U.C.A. § 31A-22-309(1)(a) to require submission of a special interrogatory to the jury which prohibited the jury from awarding damages to Plaintiff until the jury first found, by a preponderance of the evidence, that

plaintiff had incurred more than \$3,000 in medical expenses related to his automobile-accident (in other words that plaintiff had met “threshold”). By its interpretation, the trial court created a new burden of proof for plaintiff not authorized by the statute.

Rules of statutory construction require the court of appeals to interpret a statutory provision according to its plain language and within the context of its statutory scheme. Following such rules, the intent of U.C.A. § 31A-22-309(1)(a) was not to create a burden of proof at trial for plaintiff, but to provide a pre-adjudicative screening process to remove less-severe car accident cases from the court system. Through the overall no-fault statutory scheme and U.C.A. § 31A-22-307(2)(e), the legislature established procedures to screen non-threshold cases from the court system. Plaintiff met threshold, as acknowledged by Defendant’s own liability carrier through evaluation and payment of medical bills in excess of \$3,500. Defendant failed to contest by motion, the plaintiff’s right to pursue damages in court and plaintiff was therefore entitled to maintain his claims at trial without a contest over the amounts of specific medical bills.

POINT II.

During litigation, plaintiff prepared to prove and at trial did prove his case on the required elements of negligence and causation of injury. Just two days before trial, the court ordered that these would be the only issues presented to the jury for resolution. R. 83-84. By informing Plaintiff on the first day of trial that the jury would be presented with a threshold question and that damages would be contingent on the jury’s finding, the court unexpectedly and unfairly saddled Plaintiff with a new burden of proof, and transformed the

nature of the trial. Defendant focused his trial attack at creating questions on certain treatments received by plaintiff and the amount of those bills. He was thus enabled to undermine the real issues in the case and preclude plaintiff from any recovery.

The trial court compounded the effect of its legal error by precluding plaintiff from adducing evidence that defendant's own liability carrier had acknowledged, through evaluation and payment of plaintiff's bills, that plaintiff had met threshold.

POINT III.

The purpose of U.C.A. § 31A-22-309(1)(a) would be defeated, and enormous judicial and litigant resources would be wasted through adopting the trial court's interpretation of the statutory provision. Resolution of the threshold question need not and should not take place at the end of a full-fledged trial. A system is already in place to resolve the threshold question at the threshold of a legal case.

As evidenced by the trial court's statements during hearing of plaintiff's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, guidance is needed from the appellate courts on the meaning and application of the no-fault statutory scheme, including U.C.A. § 31A-22-309(1)(a).

ARGUMENTS

POINT I

THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE NO-FAULT STATUTORY SCHEME DOES NOT CREATE A NEW BURDEN OF PROOF AT TRIAL, BUT PROVIDES A PRE-ADJUDICATIVE SCREENING PROCESS.

The court should reverse the trial court's Judgment and denial of plaintiff's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, since the Judgment is based on the trial court's legal error. The trial court erroneously submitted a no-fault threshold question to the jury, prohibiting the jury from awarding any damages, unless it first found, by a preponderance of evidence, that plaintiff's accident-related medical bills exceeded \$3,000.

By enacting the no-fault automobile insurance scheme, including the \$3,000 medical expense threshold to maintain a claim for general damages, the Utah State Legislature did not create an additional burden of proof for plaintiffs suing for compensation from an automobile collision, nor did it intend to require a full-fledged civil trial to determine whether a given claim should have been resolved through the court system, or, whether it belonged, all along, in the no-fault system. The plain-language intention of the threshold statute was to screen less-severe cases from the court system, and, ostensibly, to lessen the burden on the trial courts and conserve judicial resources. *Warren v. Melville*, 937 P.2d 556, 562 (Utah App. 1997), *Bear River Mut. Ins. Co. v. Wall*, 937 P.2d 1282, 1285 (Utah App. 1997). *See also*, 12A Mark S. Rhodes, *Couch on Insurance* 2d § 45:667, at 271 (rev. ed. 1981) (explaining "no-fault plans are designed to limit the number of common law tort suits

arising out of automobile accidents. The mechanism for determining which claims are serious enough to be the subject of litigation is the threshold."), *George v. Welch*, 997 P.2d 1248, 1251 (Colo. Ap. 1999) ("[T]he purpose of the threshold requirement [in no-fault scheme] is to keep minor claims from clogging the courts."), *Montgomery v. Daniels*, 38 N.Y.2d 41, 50-51; 378 N.Y.S.2d 1, 8-9; 340 N.E.2d 444 (1975), (stating that one purpose of no-fault law was to ease the strain placed on the state judicial system by tort litigation), *Creswell v. Medical W. Community Health Plan*, 419 Mass 327, 644 N.E.2d 970 (1995) (stating the intent of no-fault scheme was, in part, to reduce the number of small motor vehicle tort cases being entered in the courts) , *Dairyland Ins. Co. v. Starkey*, 535 N.W.2d 363 (Minn 1995) (citing *Schmidt v. Clothier*, 338 N.W.2d 256, 260 (Minn. 1983) for the proposition that a purpose of the no-fault law was to ease the burden of litigation on the courts).

U.C.A. § 31A-22-309(1)(a), states in relevant part:

A person who has . . . direct benefit coverage under a policy which includes personal injury protection ***may not maintain*** a cause of action for general damages arising out of personal injuries alleged to have been caused by an automobile accident, except where the person has sustained one or more of the following:

. . .

(v) ***medical expenses to a person in excess of \$3,000.***

U.C.A. § 31A-22-309(1)(a) (emphasis added). As set forth, a plaintiff "may not maintain" a cause of action for general damages unless he has sustained medical expenses in excess of \$3,000. This requirement complements and works in connection with the \$3,000 minimum

personal injury protection (“PIP”) coverage of U.C.A. § 31A-22-307(1)(a). As explained by the Utah Supreme Court in *Allstate Insurance Co. v. Ivie*, 606 P.2d 1197, (Utah 1980),

Until the threshold requirements are met, the injured party is limited to his direct benefit coverage. If his injuries meet the threshold requirements, then he may maintain a claim for general damages.

Id. at 1200. Thus, according to the statutory scheme, a PIP insurer must approve and pay the \$3,000 in coverage before the insured is procedurally allowed to maintain a cause of action for general damages.

The no-fault statutory scheme also provides an avenue for resolving any dispute after suit is filed, as to whether the plaintiff has legitimately met threshold:

In disputed cases, a court on its own motion or on the motion of either party may designate an impartial medical panel of not more than three licensed physicians to examine the claimant and testify on the issue of the reasonable value of the claimant’s medical services or expenses.

Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-307(2)(e) (emphasis added). Note, this pre-trial process is consistent with the words “may not maintain” contained in § 31A-22-309(1)(a). A plaintiff can only be precluded from maintaining a claim for general damages by removing the claim from civil litigation. Conversely, to submit the threshold question to a jury does not prevent a plaintiff from maintaining a claim for general damages. Jury resolution of a threshold issue renders the above-quoted statutory provisions meaningless and defeats the statutes’ ostensible purpose of keeping minor cases from clogging up the courts’ dockets.

In the case at bar, plaintiff exceeded threshold before ever filing suit. This was acknowledged by State Farm Insurance Company, defendant's own liability carrier, through its evaluation and payment of more than \$3,500 of plaintiff's medical bills. Defendant never made any motion, as provided for in § 31A-22-307(2)(e), to dispute plaintiff's having met threshold or to prevent plaintiff from maintaining a cause of action for general damages. Plaintiff did maintain a cause of action for general damages, and was entitled to do so without "threshold" being unexpectedly inserted as the main issue in the case and without unexpectedly being saddled with a new burden of proof at trial.

Nowhere have Utah appellate courts been asked to interpret U.C.A. § 31A-22-309(1)(a) to create a new burden of proof for plaintiffs in car accident cases. While *CT v. Johnson*, 1999 UT 35, 977 P.2d 479 (Utah 1999), discusses award of general damages where \$3,000 in medical expenses were not awarded, it is clear from a reading of the case that no challenge was exerted on appeal to the trial court's decision to submit a "threshold" interrogatory to the jury. The validity of that practice was not before the court and has never been addressed by Utah appellate courts.

Unlike *Johnson*, in the case *sub judice*, plaintiff does challenge the validity of submitting a \$3,000 medical expense threshold interrogatory to the jury, on the basis of Utah Code Ann. §§ 31A-22-306 through 309. Had the Utah Supreme Court been faced with the issue of submitting a "threshold" interrogatory to the jury, it certainly would have struck that

practice down, under its own adopted rules of statutory construction. In *Johnson*, the court stated:

“When faced with a question of statutory construction, we look first to the plain language of the statute.” *Stephens v. Bonneville Travel, Inc.*, 935 P.2d 518, 520 (Utah 1997) (citation omitted). “We presume that the legislature used each word advisedly and give effect to each term according to its ordinary and accepted meaning.” *Nelson v. Salt Lake County*, 905 P.2d 872, 875 (Utah 1995) (citation omitted). Furthermore, “courts are not to infer substantive terms into the text that are not already there. ***Rather, the interpretation must be based on the language used, and the court has no power to rewrite the statute to conform to an intention not expressed.***” *Berrett v. Purser & Edwards*, 876 P.2d, 367, 370 (Utah 1994) (citations omitted).

Id at ¶ 31. (Emphasis added).

The plain language of U.C.A. §§ 31A-22-309(1)(a) and 31A-22-307(2)(e) does not create a new burden of proof for plaintiffs at trial, nor does it provide for the jury to determine at the end of a trial whether plaintiffs have the right to maintain their claim for general damages through trial. The plain language creates a pre-adjudicative screening process to determine if one can maintain a claim for general damages. Under the applicable standard of review, the court of appeals should properly and definitively interpret the statutory provisions according to their plain language and within the meaning of the no-fault statutory scheme. Accordingly, the court of appeals should reverse the lower court rulings and enter judgment for plaintiff.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF PREVAILED ON ALL REQUIRED ELEMENTS AT TRIAL AND SHOULD HAVE BEEN AWARDED DAMAGES.

Over several months of litigation, plaintiff prepared to meet his burden of proof at trial. Two days before trial, February 2, 2004, the court entered an order, pursuant to the parties stipulation (R. 83-84), finding defendant negligent and that defendant's negligence had proximately caused the collision. R. 83-84. The court also ordered that the only issues for the jury were causation of plaintiff's injuries and the amount of plaintiff's damages:

The issues presented to the jury for decision *will be limited to proximate causation of Plaintiff's injuries and to the amount of Plaintiff's damages.*

R. 83-84. (Emphasis added).

Plaintiff came to trial prepared to prove the remainder of his case. However, on the first day of trial, the court informed the parties of its intention to require a jury finding that plaintiff had met, by a preponderance of the evidence, the \$3,000 no-fault medical-expense threshold outlined in U.C.A. § 31A-22-309, before the jury could award damages. That dramatically and unfairly changed the nature of the case and trial. While plaintiff did finish proving his case and prevailed on the legal elements, the jury did not award damages because of the prohibitive instruction of the court on the threshold issue.

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