2004

# Gerald Vaughn v. Darin Anderson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

The trial court's decision to deny Vaughn's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict should be affirmed. No error was committed where the trial court's special verdict form correctly and sufficiently advised the jury as to the status of the law.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded evidence that Vaughn's PIP carrier paid benefits in excess of \$3000.00. Vaughn's PIP carrier had a duty to pay the PIP benefits that arose out of a first-party contractual relationship with Vaughn. Evidence of PIP payments of an insurance company is not admissible to establish that the threshold of \$3,000 under UCA § 31A-22-309 has been met. *C.T. ex rel. Taylor v. Johnson*, 977 P.2d 479, 481 (Utah 1999). As such, evidence of such payment was properly excluded.

Finally, the trial court correctly instructed the jury that Vaughn, the plaintiff, had the burden to demonstrate that his medical expenses exceeded the \$3,000 threshold. The no-fault statutory scheme does not shift the burden of proof to defendants. Interpreting the statute in the way suggested by Vaughn would undermine the multi-faceted purposes of the no-fault statutory scheme. As such, the trial court correctly interpreted the No-Fault statute and the decision of the trial court should be affirmed.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY SUBMITTED A SPECIAL VERDICT FORM TO THE JURY THAT REQUIRED THE JURY TO DETERMINE WHETHER VAUGHN’S MEDICAL EXPENSES MET OR EXCEEDED THE \$3,000 THRESHOLD BEFORE CONSIDERING THE ISSUE OF GENERAL DAMAGES**

This Court should affirm Judge Hilder’s submission of the special verdict form to the jury as no error was committed. Special verdict forms are reviewed for correctness as the “special verdict form is a jury instruction, and determining the propriety of jury instructions presents a question of law.” *Hart v. Salt Lake County Comm’n*, 945 P.2d 125, 136 (Utah Ct. App. 1997); *see also Collins v. Wilson*, 1999 UT 56, ¶22, 984 P.2d 960 (Utah 1999). Furthermore, this Court should only find error with the trial court’s special verdict form “if it tends to mislead the jury to the prejudice of the complaining party or insufficiently or erroneously advises the jury on the law.” *Tingey v. Christensen*, 1999 UT 68, ¶16, 987 P.2d 588 (Utah 1999).

The special verdict form submitted to the jury in this case did not mislead the jury nor prejudice Mr. Vaughn as it sufficiently and correctly advised the jury on the law.

#### **A. The Special Verdict Form Sufficiently and Correctly Advised the Jury Regarding Utah Law**

Utah’s No-Fault statute explicitly provides that a plaintiff “may not maintain a cause of action for general damages” unless the injured person has sustained “(i) death; (ii) dismemberment; (iii) permanent disability or permanent impairment based upon objective findings; (iv) permanent disfigurement; or (v) medical expenses to a person in

excess of \$3,000.” Utah Code Ann. §31A-22-309(1)(a) (hereinafter “§309(1)(a)”; *see also Warren v. Melville*, 937 P.2d 556, 558 (Utah Ct. App. 1997). The purpose of this “partial tort immunity” is to “preclude vexatious lawsuits against tortfeasors to recover relatively minor damages.” *Prince v. Bear River Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2002 UT 68, ¶¶15, 17, 56 P.3d 524 (Utah 2002). In addition to precluding vexatious lawsuits, “[a] primary objective of the statute is to create a more efficient and equitable method for handling the bulk of personal injury claims in a cost effective manner.” *Warren*, 937 P.2d at 562.

Vaughn has argued that the issue of whether or not his medical expenses exceeded the \$3000.00 threshold cannot be raised at trial. This position has no merit. Section 309(1)(a) only limits causes of action for general damages. As such, it is appropriate to raise the threshold issue at trial where the amount of medical expenses (i.e. special damages) is reasonably disputable. *See e.g., C.T. by and through Taylor v. Johnson*, 1999 UT 35, 977 P.2d 479 (Utah 1999); *Tingey v. Christensen*, 1999 UT 68, ¶5, 987 P.2d 588 (Utah 1999) (plaintiff was not entitled to general damages after jury returned verdict that damages had not exceeded \$3,000 threshold). In addition to raising the issue at trial, threshold can also be raised at any other appropriate time by motion. *See e.g., McNair v. Farris*, 944 P.2d 392, 393 (Utah Ct. App. 1997) (defendant was entitled to summary judgment where plaintiff’s medical expenses did not exceed \$3,000).

The facts of this case are similar to those in *Taylor* where the plaintiff sought damages following an automobile accident with the defendant. *Taylor*, 1999 UT 35 ¶2, 977 P.2d 479. The *Taylor* plaintiff alleged that he had sustained \$4,596.00 in medical

expenses and therefore met the statutory requirement of having incurred in excess of \$3,000 in medical expenses. *Id.* ¶3 n.2. However, the jury found that “only \$339.00 of the plaintiff’s medical expenses were proximately caused by the accident with Johnson.” *Id.* ¶¶3, 7. Based on the jury’s determination under §309(1)(a) that the plaintiff had not reasonably and necessarily incurred in excess of the \$3,000 threshold amount, the trial court found in favor of the defendant. *Id.* ¶7.

Like the trial judge in *Taylor*, Judge Hilder’s special verdict form was not misleading to the jury because it sufficiently and correctly advised the jury that Vaughn may not maintain a cause of action against Anderson for general damages unless he met or exceeded the \$3,000 threshold requirement. Paragraph three of the special verdict form instructed the jury to answer “yes” or “no” to the following question:

From a preponderance of the evidence, has the Plaintiff Gerald Vaughn sustained \$3,000 or more in medical expenses as a proximate result of the accident?

(R. at 167.) If the jury responded “no” to that question, they were instructed not to answer question number four, which asked them to ascertain the total amount of damages, including general damages. *Id.* at 167-68. This was a sufficient and correct instruction as it accurately reflected the law as set forth in §309(1)(a). The jury followed the special verdict form and responded that Mr. Vaughn had not sustained \$3,000 or more in medical expenses. *Id.* Therefore, the decision of the trial court should be affirmed.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT EXCLUDED EVIDENCE OF THE AMOUNT PAID IN PIP COVERAGE BY VAUGHN'S NO-FAULT CARRIER**

The trial court, under Rule 403, excluded evidence that State Farm Insurance (Vaughn's PIP carrier) paid over \$3,000 in PIP benefits to Vaughn. Vaughn sought to introduce such evidence for the purpose of demonstrating that he met threshold. Judge Hilder did not abuse his discretion in excluding such evidence as the Utah Supreme Court has held that evidence of PIP payments of an insurance company is not admissible to establish that the threshold of \$3,000 under UCA § 31A-22-309 has been met. *C.T. ex rel. Taylor v. Johnson*, 977 P.2d 479, 481 (Utah 1999). The standard of review for whether a trial court properly excluded evidence under Rule 403 is abuse of discretion. *Goebel v. Salt Lake City S. R.R. Co.*, 2004 UT 80, ¶35 n.1, 104 P.3d 1185 (Utah 2004).

Vaughn has argued that the exclusion of this evidence allowed Anderson “to hypocritically make threshold the major issue in the case,” after “the court precluded [Mr. Vaughn] from adducing evidence of the evaluative process performed by the defendant's liability carrier.” (Appellant's Brief at 15.) However, Vaughn's position that Anderson's liability carrier (the same carrier that paid PIP benefits) evaluated Vaughn's damages in excess of \$3,000 mischaracterizes the relationship State Farm had with Vaughn. State Farm was the liability insurer for Anderson and the no-fault insurer for Vaughn. The “evaluative process” Vaughn refers to was State Farm's determination to pay \$3,530.61 in PIP benefits on behalf of Vaughn. (R. at 226-27.) Vaughn's argument that State Farm

made such an evaluation as Anderson's liability carrier is misleading because State Farm actually made that evaluation as Vaughn's no-fault carrier.

In this case, as his PIP carrier, State Farm owed Vaughn a duty created by the first-party contractual relationship. *See Taylor*, 1999 UT 35, ¶7 n.3, 977 P.2d 479. It was under this duty that the PIP benefits were paid. A very different relationship existed, however, between State Farm and Vaughn in the liability claim against Anderson. In that situation, State Farm and Vaughn have a third party relationship very different from the PIP setting. In the third party litigation setting, State Farm has a duty to its insured, Mr. Anderson, to evaluate Vaughn's claims, and pay only what is related to the accident. This very issue was addressed in *Taylor* when the Utah Supreme Court specifically rejected the plaintiff's argument that PIP payments made by an insurer could establish the threshold amount for his medical expenses. *Id.* In that case, the Utah Supreme Court specifically determined that a PIP payment made by a plaintiff's own insurer did not establish the threshold amount for his medical expenses, because the mere fact that the PIP insurer paid for medical expenses which the jury found were not related to the accident was not binding on the defendant for purposes of establishing the threshold and exposing him to liability for general damages, particularly since a PIP carrier has a first party contractual relationship with its insured and owes that insured certain duties. *Id.*

As noted by the Utah Supreme Court in *Taylor*,

We reject [Plaintiff's] argument that the Personal Injury Payment ("PIP") made by his own insurer establishes the threshold amount for his medical expenses. The mere fact that his PIP insurer paid for medical expenses

which the jury found were not related to the accident should not be binding on [Defendant] for purposes of establishing the medical expenses threshold and exposing [Defendant] to liability for general damages. This is especially so since a PIP carrier has a first party contractual relationship with its insured--in this case [Plaintiff]--and owes certain duties to him.

*See Taylor*, 1999 UT 35, ¶7 n.3, 977 P.2d 479. According to the clear holding of the Utah Supreme Court in the *Taylor* case, the trial court in this matter did not abuse its discretion when it precluded evidence of the payment of PIP benefits for the purpose of establishing threshold. As such, the decision of the trial court should be affirmed.

**III. SECTION 31A-22-307(2)(e) DOES NOT IMPOSE A BURDEN ON THE DEFENDANT TO PROVE, PRIOR TO TRIAL, THAT PLAINTIFF'S MEDICAL EXPENSES DID NOT EXCEED \$3,000**

The Court should affirm the trial court's decision to deny Vaughn's motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict because Judge Hilder correctly interpreted the no-fault statutory scheme which requires Vaughn to prove, at trial, that his medical expenses related to the accident exceeded \$3,000. "The interpretation of statutory provisions presents a question of law, which we review for correctness, granting no deference to the trial court." *Pugh v. Draper City*, 2005 UT 12, ¶7, 519 Utah Adv. Rep. 9 (Utah 2005).

Vaughn has asked this Court to read the No-Fault statute as placing a burden on defendants, prior to trial, to prove that the plaintiff's medical expenses did not exceed the \$3,000 threshold. Vaughn contends that allowing a plaintiff to proceed to trial and then requiring him to bear the burden of proof that his medical expenses exceed the threshold conflicts with the purpose of "screen[ing] less-severe cases from the court system" because it allows a plaintiff to go through a "full-fledged civil trial" only to have his

claims for general damages rejected after the jury has heard all the evidence. (App. Brief at 9.) Contrary to Vaughn’s argument, §309(1)(a) does not preclude the jury from hearing evidence on special damages, including medical expenses; it merely precludes a plaintiff from maintaining a cause of action for general damages unless it is proven that his medical expenses exceeded \$3,000.

Vaughn has proposed that the Court read §31A-22-309(1)(a) (hereinafter “§309(1)(a)”) in conjunction with §31A-22-307(2)(e) (hereinafter “§307(2)(e)”) and interpret those sections as precluding a jury instruction on the threshold issue. However, this interpretation of the statute conflates two provisions that serve different purposes and would shift the burden of proof to defendants to prove that a plaintiff’s medical expenses have not exceeded threshold before trial begins.

First, §307(2)(e) and §309(1)(a) serve two distinct purposes within the overall no-fault scheme. The purpose of §307(2)(e) is to ensure that an injured party receives immediate and fair compensation for his medical expenses when a dispute arises between an insured and his no-fault insurer. By comparison, the purpose of §309(1)(a) is to prevent vexatious lawsuits to recover relatively minor damages by requiring plaintiffs to incur more than \$3,000 in reasonable medical expenses before maintaining a cause of action. Finally, the no-fault statutory scheme does not place the burden on the defendant to disprove plaintiff’s claims.



**A. Sections 31a-22-307 and 31a-22-309 Serve Different Purposes under the No-fault Statutory Scheme**

The no-fault statutory scheme has more than one purpose and it employs §307(2)(e) differently than §309(1)(a) in order to effectuate those different purposes. As noted by the Utah Supreme Court in *Prince*, “Utah’s No-Fault Automobile Insurance Act has two primary components: “(1) no-fault PIP insurance coverage, and (2) partial tort immunity from certain PIP-typed claims for tortfeasors.” 2002 UT 68, ¶15, 56 P.3d 524; *see also Bear River Mut. Ins. Co. v. Wall*, 1999 UT 33, 978 P.2d 460 (Utah 1999) (distinguishing between the two purposes of the no-fault statutes); *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Ivie*, 606 P.2d 1197, 1199 (Utah, 1980) (“The Utah no-fault statute is a compulsory, partial tort exemption law coupling no-fault insurance benefits [] with a partial elimination of tort claims for bodily injury.”). Even the cases cited by Vaughn do not support the conclusion that §307(2)(e) and §309(1)(a) were intended to serve the single purpose of preventing smaller cases from clogging up the courts. *See George v. Welch*, 997 P.2d 1248, 1251 (Colo. Ct. App. 1999) (noting that the purpose of the threshold requirement is distinguishable from the overall purpose of the no-fault act); *Montgomery v. Daniels*, 340 N.E.2d 444, 446 (N.Y. 1975) (“One prong [of the no-fault statute] deals with compensation; the other with limitation of tort actions.”); *Creswell v. Medical W. Community Health Plan*, 644 N.E.2d 970, 971 (Mass. 1995) (The three purposes of the no-fault statute are “to reduce the number of small motor vehicle tort cases being entered in the courts of the Commonwealth, to provide a prompt, inexpensive means of

reimbursing claimants for out-of-pocket expenses, and to address the high cost of motor vehicle insurance in the Commonwealth.”); *Dairyland Ins. Co. v. Starkey*, 535 N.W.2d 363, 365 (Minn. 1995) (“no-fault automobile insurance laws are intended to relieve the economic distress of uncompensated victims;” “to prevent overcompensation and provide offsets to avoid duplicate recovery;” “[to] speed the administration of justice and ease the burden of litigation on the courts;” “and place the claimants in the same position they would have been in had the tortfeasor had liability insurance”).

**1. The purpose of § 31A-22-307(2)(e) is to provide a procedure for determining the reasonable value of medical expenses when a dispute arises between an insured and his PIP insurer**

Section 31A-22-307(2)(e) addresses the PIP coverage component of the no-fault statutory scheme by providing a procedure to determine the reasonable value of medical expenses in dispute between an insured and his own no-fault carrier. Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-307(2)(e); see *Versluis v. Guaranty Nat'l Cos.*, 842 P.2d 865, 867 (Utah 1992) (“PIP benefits are intended to provide immediate compensation for out-of-pocket expenses and actual loss of earnings incurred as a result of an accident without having to bring a lawsuit.”). This subsection must be read in light of the overall purpose of §31A-22-307 which describes “the parameters of an insurer’s obligations concerning personal injury protection coverages and benefits.” *Tucker v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 2002 UT 54, ¶13, 53 P.3d 947 (Utah 2002). Reading §307(2)(e) in the context of §31A-22-307 demonstrates that §307(2)(e) was intended to function as a part of the PIP-coverage component of the no-fault statutory scheme and is consistent with the general purpose of

PIP coverage, namely, “to ensure that insurance companies provide immediate minimal health benefits for covered individuals injured in automobile accidents.” *See Prince*, 2002 UT 68, ¶17, 56 P.3d 524 (citing *Regal Ins. Co. V. Bott*, 2001 UT 71, ¶11, 31 P.3d 524).

**2. The purpose of §31A-22-309(1)(a) is to require plaintiffs to incur more than \$3,000 in reasonable medical expenses before maintaining a cause of action**

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